RECEIVED

Mar 08 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Jean H. Toal
Acting Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001437
Circuit Court Case Nos. 2019-CP-40-02285 and 2019-CP-40-06956

Peter D. Protopapas, in his capacity as Receiver of Covil Corporation,..... Plaintiff,

v.

Wall, Templeton & Haldrup, P.A.; Sentry Casualty Company; United States Fidelity and Guaranty Company; Zurich Insurance Company,..... Defendants,

And

Sandra S. Hutto, Individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Donald L. Hutto and Brian Hutto and Candace H. Youngblood,..... Plaintiffs,

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

This is an appeal of an order granting a motion filed by Peter D. Protopapas, the court-appointed receiver (“Receiver”) for Covil Corporation (“Covil”), a defunct corporation that was judicially dissolved in 1992 during a prior receivership proceeding but remains a defendant in ongoing asbestos litigation. The Receiver’s motion sought to “clarify the status of [his] receivership” over Covil by obtaining a ruling that the ten-year statute of repose for claims against dissolved corporations set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 33-14-107 did not prevent plaintiffs from bringing asbestos personal injury tort claims against Covil. The circuit court (Toal, C.J., Ret., sitting by designation as Acting Circuit Court Judge) granted the requested relief. This order was erroneous and raises several issues for appellate review:

1. Did the Receiver have standing to ask the circuit court for a ruling that Covil cannot benefit from the ten-year statute of repose for claims against dissolved corporations contained in S.C. Code Ann. § 33-14-107, given that the ruling sought and obtained by the Receiver benefits Covil’s litigation adversaries, not Covil?

2. Does S.C. Code Ann. § 33-14-107, as amended in 2004, which bars unknown claims arising after corporate dissolution, apply prospectively from the date of the amendment to bar post-dissolution asbestos claims against Covil asserted more than ten years later?

3. If the 2004 amendment to Section 33-14-107 does not apply to Covil, does the pre-amendment version of the statute, which applies to all claims other than those for which claimant-specific notice is given under S.C. Code Ann. § 33-14-106, bar post-dissolution claims against Covil?

4. Section 33-14-107’s repose period bars claims ten years after publication of a notice of dissolution, which Covil’s prior receiver was ordered to publish pursuant to the prior receivership court’s judicial dissolution decree. That court subsequently found that the prior

receiver complied with the receivership court's orders. In view of that finding as well as the presumption that receivers comply with court orders and their fiduciary obligations, did the circuit court err in reaching a contrary finding, decades after the prior final orders judicially dissolving Covil, by concluding that the prior receiver failed to publish notice of Covil's dissolution and on that basis that the statute of repose does not bar claims against Covil?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Through the order on appeal, Covil's Receiver, who is charged with *defending* Covil in asbestos litigation, obtained a ruling that one of Covil's own defenses was not viable. The Receiver had, and has, no legally cognizable interest in seeking what is effectively an advisory opinion that claims against Covil are *not* barred by South Carolina's statute of repose. Nor does the fact that the defense was asserted vicariously by Appellant United States Fidelity and Guaranty Company ("USF&G")—which has been sued under the novel theory that Covil's insurers, including USF&G, became Covil's alter egos after Covil dissolved—change the analysis. USF&G plainly has the right to assert Covil's defenses when defending vicarious liability claims. USF&G has also continued to defend Covil in ongoing asbestos litigation. To the extent that a statute of repose defense prevailed, it would limit both Covil's and USF&G's liability in the same measure, and Covil's Receiver does not have standing to obtain rulings that further the interests of Covil's litigation adversaries and seek to maximize Covil's liabilities. The circuit court's contrary finding that the Receiver had standing to bring this motion was error.

The order on appeal is also wrong on the merits. The circuit court principally concluded that the 2004 amendments to S.C. Code Ann. § 33-14-107—which would, if applicable, undisputedly bar asbestos claims currently being asserted against Covil—did not apply because Covil dissolved in 1992, before those amendments were passed. In so holding, the circuit court determined that the only way these amendments could be applied would involve running the ten-

year repose period retrospectively so that claims would become time-barred in 2002, ten years after Covil's dissolution. According to the circuit court, applying the amended statute to companies that had dissolved previously would constitute an improper "retroactive" application. Thus, according to the circuit court, claims against corporations that dissolved prior to the 2004 amendments would remain viable indefinitely into the future. This ruling is erroneous because it refuses to apply the statute prospectively. For over one hundred years, state and federal courts considering similar questions have concluded that newly enacted statutes of limitations and statutes of repose *do* apply to prior claims and events, but that the new statutory period runs prospectively from the date of enactment. That is the very position USF&G urged below. This rule of construction addresses the retroactivity problems identified by the circuit court, while also avoiding the arbitrary and anomalous consequences that result from declining to apply the statute altogether. The legislature's goals of providing repose for dissolved corporations would be thwarted if claims against corporations that dissolved before 2004 remain viable indefinitely, while claims against corporations that dissolved later are barred.

In addition, the circuit court erred in other important respects, including by misinterpreting the pre-amendment version of the statute; declining to apply the presumption that Covil's prior receiver complied with court orders; and resolving fact issues in the Receiver's favor on an incomplete record. As discussed further below, each of these errors mandates reversal.

A. **Procedural History**

This appeal arises from a "Motion to Clarify Status of Receivership" ("Motion to Clarify") filed by the Receiver on July 21, 2020 in two actions pending before the circuit court, *Peter D. Protopapas as Receiver for Covil Corp. v. Wall, Templeton & Haldrup, P.A., et al.*, C/A No. 2019-CP-40-02285 ("*Wall Templeton*") and *Sandra S. Hutto, et al. v. Covil Corp., et al.*, C/A No. 2019-CP-40-06956 ("*Hutto*"). (R. p. __; Motion to Clarify).

The *Wall Templeton* action was filed by the Receiver against USF&G and certain other defendants not party to this appeal on April 24, 2019. (R. p. __; Compl., *Wall Templeton*; see also R. p. __; Am. Compl., *Wall Templeton*). The *Hutto* action was filed on December 12, 2019 by asbestos tort plaintiffs who are not parties to this appeal against USF&G, Covil, and additional defendants not parties to this appeal. (R. p. __; Compl., *Hutto*). Covil, through the Receiver, subsequently asserted cross-claims against USF&G and other defendants. (R. p. __; Receiver's Cross-Claims, *Hutto*). USF&G and its co-defendants asserted defenses to the claims and cross-claims in *Hutto* and *Wall Templeton*, including the statute of repose defense that was the subject of the Motion to Clarify and is now at issue on this appeal.¹

The circuit court issued the order on appeal, which granted the Receiver's Motion to Clarify, on September 25, 2020. (R. p. __; Order). USF&G filed notices of appeal from the order on October 26, 2020. (R. p. __; USF&G's Notice of Appeal, *Hutto*; R. p. __; USF&G's Notice of Appeal, *Wall Templeton*). On November 6, 2020, the Court requested briefing on the issue of the appealability of the September 25, 2020 order. (R. p. __; Request for Memoranda on Appealability). Following submissions concerning appealability on December 1, 2020, and on January 5, 2021, the Court notified the parties that this appeal should proceed.²

B. Covil's Dissolution And Receiverships

Covil Corporation was a South Carolina-based insulation contractor that was involved in the distribution and/or installation of insulation materials, some of which contained asbestos. In 1991, Covil ceased all business operations and The First Savings Bank, F.S.B., a creditor of Covil,

¹ R. p. __; USF&G's Answer to Am. Compl., *Wall Templeton*; R. p. __; Zurich American Insurance Company's Answer to Compl., *Wall Templeton*; R. p. __; USF&G's Answer, *Hutto*.

² R. p. __, USF&G's Memorandum on Appealability; R. p. __; Receiver's Memorandum on Appealability; R. p. __; Letter Retaining Appeal from the Court of Appeals.

sought appointment of a receiver to marshal Covil’s assets in order to satisfy its debts.³ On October 11, 1991, the Greenville Court of Common Pleas appointed L. Winston Lee as receiver of certain of Covil’s personal and real property.⁴ Subsequently, on May 12, 1992, the receivership court granted a motion by Mr. Lee to “have his appointment responsibility and authority broadened to that of a general receiver for Covil Corporation” and to have Covil “be judicially dissolved.”⁵ In that same order, the court directed Mr. Lee to publish notice of Covil’s dissolution.⁶ The May 12 Order stated that dissolution was “effective as of the date of [its] filing,” *i.e.*, May 12, 1992.⁷

Six months later, the court issued an order “find[ing] that [the receiver] has fully complied with the previous Orders of this Court in liquidating [Covil’s] assets.”⁸ The court then approved “the abandonment by the Receiver of all [Covil’s] remaining assets,” finalized the dissolution, and discharged Mr. Lee as receiver.⁹ The May 12 Order judicially dissolving Covil also directed the clerk of court to deliver a certified copy of the dissolution decree to the South Carolina Secretary of State. However, the South Carolina Secretary of State does not appear to have officially recorded Covil’s dissolution decree. Instead, on July 30, 1993, the Secretary of State issued a

³ See *The First Savings Bank, F.S.B. v. Covil Corp.*, C.A. No. 91-CP-23-4445, Judgment Roll 91-5988 (Ct. Com. Pl. Greenville Cty.) (“*FSB v. Covil*”).

⁴ See R. p. __; Order for Appointment of Receiver, *FSB v. Covil* (October 11, 1991) (Ex. J to Motion to Clarify).

⁵ R. p. __; Order at 1-2, *FSB v. Covil* (May 12, 1992) (Ex. V to Motion to Clarify) (“May 12 Order”).

⁶ See R. p. __; *id.* at 5 ¶ 9 (“[T]o the extent not already accomplished, the Receiver shall publish the Notice required by § 33-14-107 of the Code of Laws of the State of South Carolina[.]”).

⁷ R. p. __; *id.* at 2 ¶ 1.

⁸ R. p. __; Order at 2, *FSB v. Covil* (Nov. 12, 1992) (Ex. W to Motion to Clarify) (“Nov. 12 Order”).

⁹ R. p. __; Final Order at 3 ¶¶ 7–8, *FSB v. Covil* (Nov. 30, 1992) (Ex. B to USF&G’s Opposition to Motion to Clarify) (“Nov. 30 Order”).

Certification of Revocation of Authority against Covil for failure to file its annual report and/or pay franchise tax.¹⁰

Over the next 25 years, Covil was named as a defendant in various asbestos personal injury lawsuits. Covil's insurers retained defense counsel to defend and settle these lawsuits, as the insurers were obligated to do under the terms of their policies. Then, on November 1, 2018, plaintiffs in *Taylor v. Air & Liquid Systems Corp., et al.*, C.A. No. 2018-CP-40-04940 ("*Taylor*") moved to appoint a receiver for Covil, arguing that an appointment was appropriate because (i) Covil was dissolved; (ii) a \$32.7 million judgment had been entered against Covil in a North Carolina federal action, *Finch v. Covil Corp.*, No. 16-cv-1077 (M.D.N.C.), and (iii) Covil had allegedly failed to answer in *Taylor* and another asbestos tort case, *Hill v. Advanced Auto Parts Inc., et al.*, C.A. No. 2018-CP-40-04680 ("*Hill*").¹¹ The circuit court granted the motion the next day and appointed attorney Peter D. Protopapas as Covil's receiver.¹² Since that time, Mr. Protopapas has aggressively litigated claims against Covil's insurers and its prior defense counsel under a variety of novel theories of liability, including that Covil's insurers are directly liable for Covil's torts as a result of Covil's insurers' alleged control of Covil's defense and settlement of asbestos tort claims after it ceased business operations in 1991.¹³ In addition, the Receiver has alleged that Covil's insurers aided and abetted Covil's prior attorneys' alleged breaches of their fiduciary duties to Covil, breached their duties to defend Covil, and handled Covil's insurance

¹⁰ R. p. __; Certificate of Revocation of Authority (Ex. M to Motion to Clarify).

¹¹ See R. p. __; Plaintiffs' Motion to Appoint a Receiver over Covil Corporation Pursuant to S.C. Code § 15-65-10(4), *Taylor* (Nov. 1, 2018).

¹² See R. p. __; Order Appointing Receiver, *Taylor* (Nov. 2, 2018).

¹³ See, e.g., R. p. __; Am. Compl., *Wall Templeton* at 14; R. p. __; Receiver's Cross-Claims, *Hutto* at 10.

claims in bad faith. (See, e.g., R. p. __-__; Am. Compl., *Wall Templeton* at 11-14). USF&G disputes the factual and legal bases for these claims. Following the Receiver's lead, other asbestos plaintiffs represented by the Dean Omar firm began to sue directly USF&G and Covil's other insurers as Covil's alleged alter egos, naming them along with Covil. (See, e.g., R. p. __; Compl., *Hutto*).

USF&G has continued to defend and indemnify Covil in the asbestos suits. USF&G has worked with the Receiver since his November 2018 appointment in defending the claims against Covil, while simultaneously defending against the Receiver's various coverage claims and the novel alter ego claims the Receiver has pursued along with the underlying asbestos claimants. The Receiver has settled claims against certain of Covil's insurers and defense counsel since his appointment and, based on the information disclosed, has been awarded fees of 33.3% of these recoveries, shared between the Receiver's law firm and his outside counsel.¹⁴

C. **The Receiver's "Motion To Clarify Status Of Receivership"**

As noted above, the Motion to Clarify that gives rise to this appeal was brought in response to USF&G and another of Covil's insurers, Zurich American Insurance Company ("Zurich"), having asserted defenses based on South Carolina's statute of repose applicable to claims against dissolved corporations in two actions, *Wall Templeton* and *Hutto*. *Wall Templeton* was filed by the Receiver against USF&G, Zurich, and Wall, Templeton & Haldrup, P.A., Covil's former defense counsel. Although Covil's insurers resolved the claims against Covil in the *Hill* and *Taylor* cases without any contribution by Covil, the Receiver in *Wall Templeton* asserts claims against Wall Templeton for professional negligence and breach of fiduciary duty arising from

¹⁴ See, e.g., R. p. __-__; Order Granting Joint Motions to Establish Covil Qualified Settlement Fund and to Approve Settlements, *Taylor* at 23-24 (awarding 33.3% contingency fee in settlements with Hartford, TIG, and Sentry).

default judgments entered in the *Hill* and *Taylor* cases, and claims against USF&G and Zurich for aiding and abetting Wall Templeton’s breach of fiduciary duty, breach of the duty to defend, bad faith claims processing, and negligence. (R. p. ___ - ___; Am. Compl., *Wall Templeton* at 8-13). The Receiver also seeks to hold Covil’s insurers liable as its alter egos and a declaratory judgment claim regarding the insurance available to Covil in *Hill* and *Taylor*. (R. p. ___, ___; *id.* at 14, 17). The Receiver’s claims against USF&G and Zurich in the *Wall Templeton* action remain pending.

The *Hutto* action asserted claims under the Wrongful Death Act for alleged asbestos-related bodily injury. Plaintiffs in *Hutto* named Covil as a product seller potentially responsible for the decedent’s injuries, and USF&G and Covil’s other insurers as Covil’s alleged alter egos. (R. p. ___; Compl., *Hutto*). Covil, through the Receiver, subsequently asserted its own alter ego and declaratory judgment insurance coverage cross-claims against Covil’s insurers in *Hutto*. (R. p. ___; Receiver’s Cross-Claims, *Hutto*). On January 20, 2021, Covil withdrew its cross-claims against USF&G, and on February 17, 2021, the *Hutto* plaintiffs dismissed their claims against Covil without prejudice.¹⁵ Because plaintiffs have dismissed their claims against Covil, USF&G anticipates that plaintiffs will likewise dismiss their vicarious liability claims against USF&G that were based on Covil’s alleged primary liability.

The Motion to Clarify filed in *Wall Templeton* and *Hutto* allegedly sought to clarify “the impact of Covil’s prior receivership” on the current receivership in light of USF&G’s and Zurich’s assertion of Covil’s statute of repose defense. (R. p. ___; Mot. at 2). The Motion to Clarify asked the circuit court to “finally adjudicate” issues of South Carolina law relevant to application of the statute of repose to claims against Covil and, in substance, to declare that the statute of repose was

¹⁵ R. p. ___; Receiver’s Notice of Withdrawal Without Prejudice of Cross-Claims Against USF&G and Zurich, *Hutto*; R. p. ___; Stipulation of Dismissal of Covil Corporation Without Prejudice, *Hutto*.

not a viable defense for Covil or its insurers in any asbestos tort lawsuit against Covil. The motion did not explicitly seek to strike or dismiss USF&G's and Zurich's defenses, but instead was framed as a "clarif[ication]" of the "status" of the receivership as a whole, *i.e.*, in every case in which Covil was a party.

In the Motion to Clarify, the Receiver focused on USF&G's Sixth and Eleventh Defenses in *Hutto*. (R. p. __; Mot. at 2). USF&G's Sixth Defense was asserted as a defense to the *Hutto* plaintiffs' alter ego claims:

Covil is a dissolved corporation and claims against it, including against any entity alleged to be Covil's "alter ego" are barred under S.C. Code Ann. § 33-14-106 and 33-14-107. Plaintiffs' claims against USF&G are necessarily barred also because Plaintiffs' claims against USF&G are derivative of underlying asbestos claims against Covil.¹⁶

USF&G's Eleventh Defense asserted this same time-bar against Covil's alter ego cross-claims:

Covil is a dissolved corporation and claims against it, including against any entity alleged to be Covil's "alter ego" are barred under S.C. Code Ann. § 33-14-106 and 33-14-107. Covil's claims against USF&G are necessarily barred also because Covil's alleged claims against USF&G are derivative of underlying asbestos claims against Covil.¹⁷

The Zurich defense identified by the Receiver in *Wall Templeton* similarly raised the time-bar under S.C. Code Ann. §§ 33-14-106 and 33-14-107.¹⁸ USF&G also asserted this defense in

¹⁶ R. p. __; USF&G Answer, *Hutto* at 16.

¹⁷ R. p. __; USF&G Answer, *Hutto* at 35.

¹⁸ The defense provided in relevant part that "pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §§ 33-14-106 and 33-14-107, underlying asbestos claims against Covil Corporation are barred. Plaintiffs' claims against Zurich are necessarily barred as well because Plaintiff's alleged claims against Zurich are derivative of underlying asbestos claims against Covil." R. p. __; Zurich Answer to Compl., *Wall Templeton* at ¶¶ 90-94.

Wall Templeton, using substantially the same wording as in its Eleventh Defense in *Hutto*.¹⁹ USF&G opposed the Motion to Clarify, arguing that Covil’s Receiver lacked standing to attack the viability of Covil’s own statute of repose defense, whether asserted by Covil or vicariously by USF&G as Covil’s alleged alter-ego, and that the statute of repose defense was meritorious.²⁰ On September 25, 2020, the circuit court entered a proposed order drafted by the Receiver and granted the Motion to Clarify. The order concluded that “[d]espite USF&G’s objection to the contrary,” Covil’s Receiver, “has standing to present th[e] argument” that “pending and future asbestos claims [against Covil] by personal injury claimants . . . remain viable” notwithstanding the statute of repose. (R. p. __; Order at 6). As to the legal issues presented by Covil’s motion, the court found that neither the version of the statute of repose in effect at the time of Covil’s dissolution nor the version in effect today barred any claims against Covil. (R. p. __-__; *id.* at 6–9). The court also found, as a factual matter, that “notice of Covil’s dissolution was never published,” and for that reason the statute of repose was never triggered. (R. p. __-__; *id.* at 5–6). In conclusion, the court ruled that “no version of section 33-14-107 precludes an asbestos personal injury plaintiff from bringing claims against Covil” and that “Covil’s prior receivership presents no impediment to the assertion of asbestos personal injury claims against Covil.” (R. p. __-__; *id.* at 9–10).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Questions of statutory construction are a matter of law.” *Boiter v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 393 S.C. 123, 132, 712 S.E.2d 401, 405 (2011). “The Court reviews questions of law de novo.”

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