RECEIVED

Oct 04 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Jean Hoefler Toal, Chief Justice (Ret.), Acting Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-40-02285

Appellate Case No. 2020-001437

Peter D. Protopapas, as Receiver for Covil Corporation, Respondent,

v.

Wall, Templeton & Haldrup, P.A.; Sentry Casualty Company; United States Fidelity
and Guaranty Company; Zurich American Insurance Company, Defendants,

of which

United States Fidelity and Guaranty Company is the Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

G. Murrell Smith, Jr. (S.C. Bar. # 66263)
Jonathan M. Robinson (S.C. Bar # 68285)

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE RECEIVER HAS STANDING TO CHALLENGE USF&G’S STATUTE OF REPOSE DEFENSE

Justice Toal correctly rejected USF&G’s argument that the Receiver lacks standing to challenge USF&G’s “specious” statute of repose defense, and thus the ruling below should be affirmed. USF&G identifies no error in Justice Toal’s order.⁷ Indeed, USF&G’s arguments on

⁷ (R. p. 646.)

appeal (App. Br. 13–18) merely restate the same arguments that Justice Toal derided as “absurd,” and USF&G makes no effort to show that Justice Toal’s reasoning or conclusions are incorrect.⁸

As an initial matter, “standing” does not describe the argument that USF&G is actually making. Standing means having “a personal stake in the subject matter of a lawsuit.” *Joseph v. S.C. Dep’t of Labor, Licensing & Regulation*, 417 S.C. 436, 449, 790 S.E.2d 763, 769 (2016). South Carolina courts generally use the United States Supreme Court’s formulation for the elements of standing: “(1) the plaintiff must have suffered an ‘injury in fact;’ (2) there must be a causal connection between the injury and the conduct complained of; and (3) it must be likely, as opposed to merely speculative, that the injury will be ‘redressed by a favorable decision.’” *Id.* (quoting *Sea Pines Ass’n for Prot. of Wildlife, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Nat. Res.*, 345 S.C. 594, 600, 550 S.E.2d 287, 291 (2001)).

The Receiver, standing in Covil’s shoes, plainly satisfies all of the foregoing requirements and has standing to sue USF&G to recover damages for USF&G’s bad faith mismanagement of Covil’s assets.⁹ Nor can there be any debate that, as the plaintiff in an action against USF&G, the Receiver has standing to petition the Circuit Court for an order rejecting an affirmative defense to the Receiver’s own claims against USF&G.

⁸ (R. p. 646.)

⁹ All of the cases USF&G cites in support of its argument that the concept of standing relates to whether a party can seek a particular form of relief or file a particular type of motion are inapposite because they all involved non-parties attempting to seek relief from the court. *See, e.g., Ex Parte Lexington Cnty.*, 314 S.C. 220, 442 S.E.2d 589 (1994) (finding non-party Lexington County did not have standing to participate in *ex parte* proceeding to determine the reasonableness of investigative or expert services related to a death penalty defense); *Townsend v. Townsend*, 323 S.C. 309, 314, 474 S.E.2d 424, 427–28 (1996) (finding a non-party attorney did not have standing to file a motion to reconsider an order removing him from a case).

Rather than a “standing” argument, USF&G argues that by challenging USF&G’s statute of repose affirmative defense, the Receiver is acting against what *USF&G* perceives to be Covil’s interest. That is not a standing argument—it is essentially an argument that the Receiver should somehow be estopped from challenging USF&G’s affirmative defense because it would be inconsistent with the purpose of a receivership to act against Covil’s interest. Even if that were a valid argument (it is not), *USF&G* has no capacity to decide what is, or is not, in *Covil’s* interest. That power and responsibility rests exclusively with the court-appointed Receiver, who is “charged with marshaling Covil’s assets and prudently using those assets to address Covil’s asbestos liabilities in a responsible fashion.” (R. p. 646.) The Receiver has determined that Covil’s interest is served by defeating USF&G’s statute of repose defense because it is legally and factually meritless and serves only as a barrier to the Receiver’s claims against USF&G.

USF&G’s self-serving assertion that the Receiver’s “purported subjective belief that the statute of repose defense lacks merit . . . does not entitle, much less require, the Receiver to seek judicial rulings” overruling its affirmative defense is unsupported by any authority, is not an argument about standing, and is wrong. (App. Br. at 18.) As Justice Toal correctly reasoned, the Receiver is neither required nor permitted “to advance frivolous arguments,” nor to “assert specious defenses” like USF&G’s bogus statute of repose defense. (R. p. 646.) It is the Receiver’s duty to exercise reasoned judgment, acknowledge the reality that asbestos claims against Covil are *not barred* by the statute of repose, and to pursue coverage from USF&G and Covil’s other insurers. The Receiver has been doing exactly that.

USF&G’s similar insinuation that, by opposing its meritless affirmative defense, the Receiver is somehow failing to comply with its “contractual obligation to assist in cooperating in Covil’s defense” is not a standing argument either, and also is meritless. (App. Br. at 18.) Justice

Toal correctly held that USF&G’s “contention that the Receiver is somehow not cooperating with Covil’s insurers and is undermining Covil’s asbestos defenses by refusing to behave unethically (at USF&G’s behest) is absurd.” (*Id.*) USF&G does not even acknowledge Justice Toal’s rebuke, much less attempt to refute it.

The Receiver has sued USF&G for profiting from intentionally mismanaging asbestos litigation against Covil. The Receiver has no duty to cooperate with USF&G’s bad faith, no duty to support USF&G’s frivolous affirmative defense, and has standing to seek an order from the Court overruling USF&G’s affirmative defenses to the Receiver’s claims. USF&G’s arguments must be rejected, and the ruling below should be affirmed.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT USF&G’S STATUTE OF REPOSE DEFENSE FAILS AS A MATTER OF FACT AND LAW

Justice Toal correctly held that USF&G’s statute of repose defense fails as a matter of both fact and law, and that USF&G’s arguments are irreconcilable with the plain text and legislative purposes of the act. Section 33-14-106 provides, in relevant part, that “a dissolved corporation may dispose of the **known claims** against it by following the procedure described in this section. . . . (d) For purposes of this section, ‘**claim**’ **does not include a contingent liability or a claim based on an event occurring after the effective date of dissolution.**” (emphasis added).

Section 33-14-107, as it existed at the time of Covil’s administrative dissolution, provided:

(a) A dissolved corporation may publish notice of its dissolution and request that persons with claims against the corporation present them in accordance with the notice.

(b) The notice must:

(1) be published once in a newspaper of general circulation in the county where the dissolved corporation’s principal office (or, if none in this State, its registered office) is or was last located;

(2) describe the information that must be included in a claim and provide a mailing address where the claim may be sent; and

(3) state that a claim against the corporation is barred unless a proceeding to enforce the claim is commenced within five years after the publication of the notice.

(c) If the dissolved corporation publishes a newspaper notice in accordance with subsection (b), the claim of each of the following claimants is barred unless the claimant commences a proceeding to enforce the claim against the dissolved corporation within five years after the publication date of the newspaper notice:

(1) claimant who did not receive written notice under Section 33-14-106;

(2) a claimant whose claim was timely sent to the dissolved corporation but not acted on.

(d) A claim may be enforced under this section:

(1) against the dissolved corporation to the extent of its undistributed assets; or

(2) if the assets have been distributed in liquidation, against a shareholder of the dissolved corporation to the extent of his pro rata share of the claim or the corporate assets distributed to him in liquidation, whichever is less, but a shareholder's total liability for all claims under this section may not exceed the total amount of assets distributed to him.

In 2004, section 33-14-107 was amended to add subsection (c)(3), which created a bar to claims for “a claimant whose claim is contingent or based on an event occurring after the effective date of the dissolution.”

USF&G's statute of repose defense fails because, as Justice Toal correctly held, notice of dissolution is required to trigger the statute of repose and there is no evidence that such notice was ever published. Moreover, even if notice had been published, the plain text of the statute in effect in 1992, when Covil was administratively dissolved, does not reach future claims like those at issue here, and the 2004 amendments are not retroactive and so have no effect on this case.

A. The Statute of Repose is Triggered By Publication of Notice.

As originally enacted and as amended, section 33-14-107 of the South Carolina Code provides a conditional period of repose. Specifically, section 33-14-107(a) provides that “[a] dissolved corporation may publish notice of its dissolution and request that persons with claims against the corporation present them in accordance with the notice.” S.C. Code Ann. § 33-14-107(a); *accord* S.C. Code Ann. § 33-14-107(a) (1988). Section 33-14-107(b) thereafter provides requirements for the notice if a corporation chooses to publish one. S.C. Code Ann. § 33-14-107(b); *accord* S.C. Code Ann. § 33-14-107(b) (1988). Finally, section 33-14-107(c) sets forth the statute of repose—five years for the previous version of the statute and ten years as later amended. S.C. Code Ann. § 33-14-107(c); S.C. Code Ann. § 33-14-107(c) (1988).

By its plain text, the repose period is triggered only “[i]f the dissolved corporation publishes a newspaper notice in accordance with subsection (b).” S.C. Code Ann. § 33-14-107(c); *accord* S.C. Code Ann. § 33-14-107(c) (1988). USF&G nevertheless argues that the statutory notice “is inconsequential,” positing that the statute of repose applies even if notice is not published unless the party whose claims are to be foreclosed demonstrates prejudice from the lack of notice. (App. Br. 34–35.) This argument is unpreserved because USF&G raises it for the first time on appeal. *See Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.”).

Even if the argument could be considered, it must be rejected because it violates the principal rule of statutory interpretation that the plain and unambiguous statutory language must be applied as written. *See Peake v. S.C. Dep’t of Motor Vehicles*, 375 S.C. 589, 598, 654 S.E.2d 284, 289 (Ct. App. 2007) (“When a statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed, and this court has

no right to impose another meaning.”). The text here is unambiguous. A dissolved corporation “*may*” publish a newspaper notice, and any such notice “*must*” comply with statutory requirements. S.C. Code Ann. § 33-14-107(a)–(b) (emphases added). The statute is equally unambiguous that publication is an absolute pre-requisite to trigger the ten-year repose period. *Id.* § 33-14-107(c) (“*If* the dissolved corporation publishes a newspaper notice . . . the claim of each of the following claimants is barred”) (emphasis added). Absent such notice, there is no statute of repose in effect and claims may continue to be brought against the dissolved corporation.

USF&G seemingly admits that publication of notice is required for the repose period to begin. (App. Br. at 20 (“[Section 33-14-107] sets forth a statute of repose for unknown claims against dissolved corporations, barring such claims once a prescribed period . . . passes *after publication of notice of dissolution.*” (emphasis added)).) Nevertheless, USF&G argues that even if notice was never published, the statute of repose may still apply against a creditor who was not prejudiced by the lack of notice. (App. Br. at 34.) USF&G’s strained interpretation has no foundation in the text of the statute and must be rejected. Section 33-14-107 says nothing about prejudice to creditors, its notice provision includes no exceptions, and the courts are not empowered to create exceptions where the Legislature has declined to do so. *See Talley v. John-Mansville Sales Corp.*, 285 S.C. 117, 119, 328 S.E.2d 621, 622 (1985) (refusing to “carve an exception” to statutory requirements because “[s]uch a change is the function of the legislature, and this Court refuses to usurp legislative authority in this matter.”).

USF&G’s purported concern that if the statute is applied as written “claims against Covil should persist indefinitely into the future” is incorrect. (App. Br. 3, 22.) Section 33-14-107(c) provides that the repose period starts running at any time by publication of a notice, which means that such a notice may be filed at some point in the future. But even if that were not so, it would

be no reason to reconfigure the statute contrary to its text. *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 87, 533 S.E.2d 578, 582 (2000) (“When the language of a statute is clear and explicit, a court cannot rewrite the statute and inject matters into it which are not in the legislature’s language . . .”).

USF&G’s reliance on *Department of Social Services v. Winyah Nursing Home*, 282 S.C. 556, 320 S.E.2d 464, 468 (Ct. App. 1984) is misplaced. The statute of repose at issue in *Winyah*, section 33-21-220(a), required that after dissolution of a corporation, any party having a claim against the corporation commence an action within two years from the dissolution or have the claim barred. Unlike the statute at issue here, which makes publication of notice optional, section 33-21-60(b) *mandated* that immediately subsequent to filing with the Secretary of State its intent to dissolve, the corporation shall cause notice of the filing to be mailed to each known creditor and to the South Carolina Tax Commission. The corporation was also required to publish such notice in a newspaper. The evidence in *Winyah* showed that the defendant corporation’s notice of dissolution was not provided to the plaintiff/creditor as required by the statute. This Court therefore held that the defendant’s “[f]ailure to strictly comply with the mandates of the dissolution statutes effectively continues the corporation with respect to creditors whose rights are prejudiced by the noncompliance.” *Winyah*, 282 S.C. at 562.

Winyah is no help to USF&G because it does not hold—as USF&G argues—that the claims of a plaintiff who was not prejudiced by lack of notice are barred as though notice had actually been provided. More importantly, however, is that section 33-14-107 simply operates differently than section 33-21-220(a). Unlike the statute in *Winyah*, the publication of notice under 33-14-107(c) is optional and there is no repose period unless and until “the dissolved corporation publishes a newspaper notice in accordance with subsection (b).” S.C. Code Ann. § 33-14-107(c).

Whether or not a claimant is prejudiced is irrelevant to the statutory requirements for triggering section 33-14-107(c)'s repose period.

USF&G's argument essentially boils down to a bald request for the Court to rewrite section 33-14-107(c) to provide for a blanket statute of repose. The plain language of the statute and the intent of the Legislature compel the Court to deny USF&G's improper request.

B. Justice Toal Correctly Found No Evidence That The Prior Receiver Published Notice of Dissolution.

Because the statute of repose turns on publication of notice of dissolution, USF&G's defense depends entirely on demonstrating that such a notice was published by Covil's first receiver in 1992. Absent evidence that such a notice was published according to the statutory requirements, USF&G's statute of repose defense necessarily crumbles.

No such evidence exists. Justice Toal surveyed the record, which had been transferred to Justice Toal's court along with the Covil receivership in 2020, and correctly held that there is *zero evidence* that the first receiver ever published the statutory notice. (R. p. 10.). USF&G does not dispute Justice Toal's reasoning or findings of fact. Instead, USF&G's arguments on appeal merely reassert the same wholly speculative presumption that notice was published sometime in 1992 despite the absence of any evidence.

1. The record is devoid of evidence of publication of notice.

Publication of the notice of dissolution was mentioned only once during the initial receivership proceedings. Specifically, by order dated May 12, 1992, the court detailed many instructions for the prior receiver, including the following: "to the extent not already accomplished,

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